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Four years ago, the War on Drugs claimed an innocent victim. John Doe—a hardworking, healthy father of two; a Marine Corps veteran; a Nicaraguan immigrant who came to this country as a youth, became a citizen, and made a good life for himself here—saw his life permanently altered by the momentary carelessness of a San Francisco police officer.


On the morning of _________, Doe was driving his Ford Bronco—laden with construction supplies and tools—on 16th Street. Doe, a 12-year member of the Lathers’ Union, was on his way to a construction site where he was employed as a foreman.
 


At the same time, SFPD officer Ima Cop and her partner were in plainclothes and in an unmarked Chevrolet Caprice, assisting in a narcotics buy-bust operation. While parked at the curb at 16th and Albion, Officer Cop heard over the radio that an undercover officer was approaching her vehicle with a suspect. Not wanting to spook the suspect or blow the cover of her fellow officer, Officer Cop decided to “get out of there.”


Meanwhile, Doe was traveling at 25-30 mph westbound on 16th Street.
 Officer Cop started the car and tried to make a U-turn. As she pulled away from the curb, she rammed the rear passenger-side quarter-panel of Doe’s Bronco, causing the Bronco to fishtail from side to side.


Doe never saw it coming. Stunned, he remembers first realizing something had happened when he found himself stopped with his head resting outside his open driver’s-side window. After Officer Cop and her partner helped Doe to the curb, he felt acute pain in his neck and back. Paramedics took Doe to the hospital by ambulance.
 


SFPD dispatched its own officers to investigate this accident involving one of its own, even though there was a CHP station minutes away from the accident. Officer Cop’s car and Doe’s Bronco were left at their points of rest. Officer Cop says the accident-investigation team moved the vehicles.
 The reporting officer contradicts Officer Cop, as he reports the vehicles were moved before his arrival at the scene. The police report shows SFPD took no measurements or photographs of the accident site, whether before or after the vehicles were moved.


The report notes Officer Cop’s unsafe lane change, but SFPD did not cite their fellow officer. In contrast, SFPD did not hesitate to cite Doe for failing to have a proof of insurance card with him.
 This citation was dismissed when Doe subsequently proved he was insured at the time of the accident.


Doe has been medically precluded from construction since the accident. Months of conservative treatment proved futile. Doe was found to have suffered L5-S1 disc herniations that required two spine surgeries, including a spinal-fusion surgery. Since his surgeries, he has shown moderate improvement, and he wants to retrain for a less physically demanding occupation. But even with retraining, he will never make the kind of money he was making before the collision. He can’t exercise regularly as he did before. He can’t even play with his children as he used to. Doe will have to live with the consequences of Officer Cop’s hasty decision for the rest of his life.


The City has admitted liability, so the trial will be limited to causation and damages issues. Based on discovery to date, it appears the City’s defense will be to denigrate Doe, and to try to convince a jury that this man, who has spent the last twenty years of his life serving his country and working hard for a living, is actually a liar and a malingerer. 


The City’s defense rests on shaky foundations. It will claim that Doe had pre-existing back problems, even though his work history, exercise regimen, and medical history belie this notion. Doe’s treating physician will expressly contradict the City’s medical expert’s debatable interpretation of Doe’s medical records.


The City will also rely on biomechanical-expert testimony about low-impact collisions. Such testimony is not founded on accepted scientific principles. Even if the jury hears this evidence, cross-examination and rebuttal expert testimony will severely undermine its persuasiveness.


Finally, because the City, through SFPD, conducted the traffic-collision investigation, any questions of fact that are compounded by deficiencies in that investigation are the City’s own fault. Since the City now wants to assert a low-impact defense to dispute causation, and resolution of that issue is hampered by the police department’s shoddy investigation of the accident, the City will have to bear the burden of proof on that issue.


All parties have sophisticated and experienced trial counsel and are prepared to try this case. Plaintiff anticipates meaningful steps toward resolution will be made at this mediation. But if this case is not resolved, John Doe is prepared for his day in court.

PARTIES

Plaintiff John Doe


John Doe was born in Nicaragua in 1965. He immigrated with his family to the United States when he was about ten years old, and graduated from high school in Daly City. After high school, he enlisted in the Marine Corps, and served four years on active duty.


After his honorable discharge, he returned to the Bay Area. He joined the Lathers’ Union, and after a four-year apprenticeship, he became a journeyman lather in 1994. John was a hard worker and well-liked by his employer. His hard work paid off: in 2001, he was promoted to foreman. That year, he made almost $50,000, a new record for him. 


John was planning to work in the union as a lather and foreman until he retired. He could have expected regular and significant increases in income, and he had a union-level benefits package. But one careless choice by a SFPD officer wrecked that promising future. The back injury he sustained in the collision rendered him 75% disabled, and he will never be able to return to work as a lather.


At the age of 40, he has had to move back in with his parents. They were going to retire; now, they have to continue to work to support him. John’s income includes a union pension of $800 a month, but his pension, which totaled $20,000 before the accident, is over half gone. John says his current situation is “very stressful. I had no money to pay child support. I could not see my children. I do not know how I will make ends meet.”


John has tried to make the best of the situation, and, at the urging of his workers’ compensation vocational-rehabilitation counselor, he attempted retraining as a real estate appraiser. He attended classes for three months, and completed four courses. He found the course work intellectually difficult, and his physical condition compounded his trouble. “I had to take breaks and lie down a lot. I was in pain, but I toughed it out. That is what I have always done. I put all my heart into it, but was hard.”


John is unlikely to succeed on the State Appraiser’s Exam. He only chose home appraisal—an inappropriate vocational goal for him—on his counselor’s recommendation. “I did not have a lot to choose. I picked the home appraisal from her recommendation. I was confused about going into the unknown. Now I am in limbo.”
 


___________________  in San Francisco represent John Doe.

Plaintiff XXX Insurance Company


Because John Doe was traveling from his employer’s office to the construction site when he was injured, he was eligible for workers’ compensation benefits. XXX Insurance Company (XXX) was the workers’ compensation insurance carrier for the employer, Big Company. XXX filed an action against the City and County of San Francisco and Ima Cop to recover the benefits paid to Doe. This case was consolidated with Doe’s action. XXX is asserting a lien in the approximate amount of $240,000.


________________________ represents XXX.

Defendant City & County of San Francisco



Under Government Code section 815.2(a), the City and County of San Francisco is the public entity responsible for the actions of its employee, SFPD officer Ima Cop. Officer Cop is a San Francisco police officer. She joined the department in _____. She has married since this lawsuit was filed, and now goes by the name of Ima Marriedcop. For clarity and convenience, she will be referred to as Officer Cop in this brief.


Deputy City Attorney __________ represents the city.

THE ACCIDENT


The facts of the accident are not in dispute and are summarized above.
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The City admits liability. There are two issues of fact remaining: causation and damages.

CAUSATION

I. 
A Commonsense Evaluation of the Evidence Shows that the Motor-Vehicle Accident 
Was a Substantial Factor in Causing Harm to John Doe


The first question facing the jury will be: Did the motor-vehicle accident cause injury to John Doe?


Plaintiff anticipates that the trial court will instruct the jury on causation in accordance with CACI 400 and 430:

John Doe claims that he was harmed by the motor-vehicle accident of February 5, 2002. To establish this claim, John Doe must prove both of the following:

       1. 
That John Doe was harmed; and

       2. 
That the motor-vehicle accident was a substantial factor in causing John Doe's harm.
A substantial factor in causing harm is a factor that a reasonable person would consider to have contributed to the harm. It must be more than a remote or trivial factor. It does not have to be the only cause of the harm.


“However the test is phrased, causation in fact is ultimately a matter of probability and common sense.” (Osborn v. Irwin Memorial Blood Bank (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 234, 253.)


A commonsense review of the facts here will lead any reasonable jury to conclude that John Doe was injured in the motor-vehicle accident. Prior to the collision, Doe had a vigorous, active lifestyle. He was a construction foreman with an excellent work history.
 He engaged in physical exercise on a regular basis. Doe denies any substantial back pain or back injury prior to the accident. His back never hurt nor had he ever injured at work. He has never taken time off for back-related injuries or pain.
 He had never had a spinal x-ray. He had never had any medical treatment specifically for his back. 


But after the accident, he immediately complained of back pain and went to the hospital. He has undergone months of conservative treatment and physical therapy, and had two spine surgeries, including spinal fusion surgery. He has never been able to return to his former job, and he never will. His physicians have declared that he is permanently partially disabled. 


No reasonable jury can apply its collective common sense to these facts and reach any conclusion other than the motor-vehicle accident was a life-changing event for John Doe, and one that caused him substantial harm.


The City elected not to exercise its right to conduct a physical examination of John Doe. Instead, the City plans to assail Doe through the testimony of a professional witness, Dr. Yr Spine. Dr. Spine will likely opine, based solely on his review of Doe’s medical records, that Doe suffered no injury in the motor-vehicle accident, but that he instead suffers from a spinal condition that antedates the collision.


A single episode documented in Doe’s records has led to unwarranted reliance by the City Attorney’s Office.
 A year pre-accident, Doe was seen at Hospital for low back pain in his flank. He received physical therapy for a couple of days, and was also evaluated for a possible kidney stone. The pain quickly resolved, and Doe believed the pain to have been related to a kidney problem. One page of Doe’s physical therapy notes shows that he was complaining of pain in his lower back, and that he allegedly told the therapist that he had had recurrent episodes of moderate back pain for a few years, and that these episodes always resolved.


The City will use this single document to try to convince the jury that Doe lied when he testified at deposition that he had never before complained of back problems. The City will also use the document as the sole support for its theory that any back problems that Doe has antedated the collision.


Doe will explain that he testified at deposition as he did because he believed the pain of that visit was related to a possible kidney stone. His doctor at that time has declared that Doe’s belief is reasonable. Doe will further explain that he did not understand deposition questions about prior back pain to encompass the everyday aches and pains all people—let alone drywall installers like Doe, who routinely carry 60 sheets of 110-pound sheetrock every day—experience. Rather, he understood the questions to refer to limiting or disabling back pain—the kind of pain that causes someone to miss work or to seek medical treatment—like the pain Doe experienced after Officer Cop rammed her police car into his vehicle.


Further, in contrast to the City’s retained-expert testimony, Doe’s treating physicians, orthopedic surgeons Doc A, Doc B, and Doc C will testify. Dr. A has opined on the causation issue on a number of occasions. Three years post-accident, he commented on the hospital records discussed above:

My understanding of the situation, and according to the patient, the patient was seen at Hospital Hospital for low back pain. However, the pain was in his flank and not specifically related to the spine. He underwent sonography and actually was told that he had a kidney stone. Based on this information, it would be my opinion that he did not have a pre-existing back condition. After he was seen for the kidney stone he was sent to therapy for a few days, the pain resolved, and he was able to continue on in construction work uninterrupted without any pain. Based on this testimony and record, one would have to conclude that the problem he was seen for at hospital was related to a kidney stone and not related to a pre-existing back condition.


Dr. A has also opined on the relationship between Doe’s pre-existing back condition, if any, and the injuries inflicted in the 2002 motor-vehicle accident:

I am aware of the apportionment issue. In Mr. Doe’s case, he denies any substantial back injury or back pain prior to the motor-vehicle accident. He has never had an x-ray of his back and never had any specific treatment for his back. He had one episode of pain referable to his kidneys that was treated at Hospital with one week off work. I am not aware of any specific evidence that Mr. Doe has longstanding degenerative disease of the spine. It is very unusual for somebody at age 35 to have any substantial arthritis. Unfortunately, in medical parlance injuries of the discs of the spine fall into a category called degeneration. This is actually a misnomer. The medical profession does not make any distinction between injury and degeneration to some degree with age. This does not necessarily denote a medical condition.

While I am not a lawyer, there is a certain commonsense rule that applies to law as well as medicine. The apportionment law was drafted to include the fact that multiple injuries would be apportioned according to their contribution to the total disability. The law was not drafted to include asymptomatic patients having the natural aging process contribute to their total disability. Asymptomatic patients have no disability…. It would be my opinion that if a patient has no symptoms, required no treatment, had no pain, and functioned normally, the normal aging process should not be apportioned into a compensation settlement.

Even Dr. Defense, an individual who testifies for defendants 90% of the time, and who is a noted doctor of choice for defense counsel, determined that Doe’s injuries are causally related to the accident.

An application of commonsense wisdom to the facts results in the more-likely-true-than-not-true conclusion
 that the motor-vehicle accident was a substantial factor in causing Doe’s harm.

II. 
The City’s Low-Impact Defense Is Based on Junk Science and Will Either Be 
Excluded or Will Prove Unpersuasive


A.
The Low-Impact Defense Is a Common Defense Tactic

Plaintiff anticipates that the City will employ one of the most common defense tactics, describing the incident as “low impact” or a “fender bender,” and therefore a common, everyday experience that could not have caused Doe’s injuries.
The low-impact defense is not new. Defense attorneys often exhibit photographs of the vehicles involved in the collision, pointing out to the jury the lack of significant property damage. They then argue in summation that the slight damage shown in the photograph certainly could not have been the cause of the traumatic injuries alleged by the plaintiff. Here, we will ask the trial court to for an order limiting the use of vehicle-damage photographs. Both federal and state courts have rejected, as being without scientific foundation, the use of photographs of motor-vehicle damage and repair estimates to support any conclusion regarding causation of injuries. (Reali v. Mazda Motor of America, Inc. (D.Me 2000) 106 F.Supp.2d 75 [Ex. 9]; Clemente v. Blumenberg (N.Y. Sup. 1999) 183 Misc.2d 923, 705 N.Y.S.2d 792 [Ex. 10], Whiting v. Coultrip (Ill.App. 2001) 755 N.E.2d 494 [Ex. 11]. We doubt the City or its experts will be able to cite any scientific literature supporting such practice.

This low-impact defense has become much more sophisticated. Defense attorneys now hire biomechanical engineers to scientifically establish that the force of these impacts was not enough to cause these injuries claimed. Here, the City has designated a mechanical engineer, Dr. Engineer, as a biomechanical expert.
B.
The Low-Impact Defense Lacks Scientific Validity

Plaintiff’s counsel has had experience in attacking the methodology utilized by Dr. Engineer. In addition, courts throughout the country have issued orders barring such testimony, finding that it lacks scientific validity.

In California, qualifications to testify as an expert must be properly established on the subject matter to be addressed by the proposed expert’s testimony. (People v. Kelly (1976) 7 Cal. 3d 24, 29; Evidence code §§ 720 (a), 801 (a).) The competency and qualifications of expert witnesses is within the sound discretion of the trial court to determine. (Cavers v. Cushman Motor Sales Inc. (1979) 95 Cal. App. 3d 338, 350.)

The courts have a particular disaffection with allowing professional experts to express a point of view that is not consistent with the evidence in a case.
 Before the expert will be allowed to testify there must be proper foundation for his testimony, based in fact. (PG & E v. Zuckerman (1987) 189 Cal. App. 3d 1113.) A biomechanical expert, like Dr. Engineer, is not a medical doctor nor licensed to practice medicine. A biomechanical engineer is not qualified to offer a medical opinion, and may only testify as to the biomechanics of an accident and the kinematic forces that the collision produced. He, however, cannot testify whether the forces were sufficient enough to cause physical injury to human tissue.

Opinions regarding bodily injuries are peculiarly within the domain and expertise of medical science and physicians must provide testimony relevant to causation of injuries. (Salasquevara v. Wyeth Laboratories, Inc. (1990) 222 Cal. App. 3d 379.) Dr. Engineer is not qualified to provide competent medical expert testimony since he is not a licensed physician and has never examined Doe. 

C.
The Low-Impact Defense Has Been the Subject of Attack and Repudiation 


Throughout the United States

Studies involving select groups of persons are not predictive of the effects of forces upon any particular person. A federal court considered these variables in Smelser v. Norfolk Southern Ry. Co. (D. Ohio 1997) 105 F.3d 299 [Ex. 12], a decision addressing biomechanical engineering testimony in an automobile accident case. The court excluded the testimony of a biomechanical engineer, Dr. Ronald Huston, finding that biomechanics may not support an opinion with respect to the cause of a specific injury to a particular person, in part, because different persons have different tolerance levels.


During preliminary questioning, plaintiff’s expert, Dr. Huston, explained that biomechanics apply the principles in mechanics to the facts of a specific accident and provide information about the forces generated in that accident, explain how the body moves in response to those forces, and thus determine what types of injuries would result from the forces generated. Dr. Huston admitted that biomechanics experts are qualified to determine what injury causation forces are in general and can tell how a hypothetical person’s body will respond to those forces, but are not qualified to render medical opinions regarding the precise cause of a specific injury. He acknowledged that each individual person has his own tolerance level, and therefore, admitted he could testify only in general terms, i.e., that “X” forces would generally lead to “Y” injuries and “Y” injuries are consistent with those the plaintiff claims to have suffered.


Dr. Huston also admitted that (1) he was not a medical doctor, had no medical training, and must rely on a medical doctor’s opinion to determine a particular individual’s injuries; (2) each individual has his or her own tolerance level and pre-existing medical conditions could have an effect on what injuries result from an accident; and (3) he had not examined the plaintiff’s complete medical history. Nonetheless, the trial court permitted Dr. Huston to testify that
the failure of the seat belt, the shoulder belt webbing to lock directly, led to the injuries. The neck injury, in my opinion, was caused by the rear-end collision, with the neck being thrust backward. And then the failure of the shoulder belt allowed the shoulder to go forward, aggravating that injury, causing it to go back further. And at the same time then the lumbar region came from what might be called a jackknifing or a bending around the belt, causing the injury to the lower spine.

(Smelser, supra, at p. 305.
  
The court held that this opinion testimony went beyond Dr. Huston’s expertise in biomechanics. As he previously admitted, he was qualified to render an opinion that made use of his discipline’s general principles, described the forces generated in the collision, and spoke in general about the types of injuries those forces would generate. But Dr. Huston was not a medical doctor who had reviewed the plaintiff’s complete medical history, and his expertise in biomechanics did not qualify him to testify about the cause of the plaintiff’s specific injuries. (Smelser, supra, at p. 305.)


Plaintiff anticipates that Dr. Engineer will be savvy enough to confine his testimony to his calculations about the forces exerted on Doe’s vehicle during the collision, and his opinion that those forces are generally inconsistent with the injuries sustained by Doe. But even this limited testimony will be excluded. The force experienced by a vehicle occupant depends on a panoply of factors including the exact location of the person in the seat, the location of the head rest, the distance between the person’s head and the head rest, whether the person was looking straight ahead or to one side, whether the persons’ head was upright or bent down, the stiffness of the seat and seat back, and whether the person was aware of the imminent crash. Given that Dr. Engineer neither interviewed Doe nor inspected his vehicle, he has none of the information he would need to accurately calculate the forces Doe experienced during the accident, or to draw conclusions about the probability that Doe’s injuries were consistent with accident. Such conclusions will be nothing more than speculation and conjecture, and therefore inadmissible.


Other courts have rejected similar testimony. In Tittsworth v. Robinson (Va. 1996) 475 S.E.2d 261 [Ex. 13], the Virginia Supreme Court held that the trial court erred when it permitted the testimony of the defense expert who offered opinions that the force of the subject collision was less than many people experience in daily activities. In ruling it was inadmissible, the court stated:


In sum, the challenged expert testimony is speculative, is founded upon assumptions lacking sufficient factual basis, relies upon dissimilar tests and contains too many disregarded variable. Consequently we hold that testimony is unreliable as a matter of law, and, therefore, the trial court erred in admitting it.
 (Id., 475 S.E.2d at p. 263.)

Dr. Engineer’s brand of science was also properly excluded in Colorado in the case Schultz v. Wells (Colo. App. 2000)13 P.3d 846 [Ex. 14]. The Colorado appellate court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the expert evidence regarding the force threshold injury test results of rear-end crash testing on humans. There, the trial court first found that the expert was qualified to testify as an expert engineer. But with regard to the content of the test results, the court found that such evidence would not be helpful to the jury in that the test results “are inadequate for the purpose for which they are being offered.” In other words, the court ruled that the force threshold for probability of injury demonstrated in the test results could not be used to “prove that a particular person was not injured or was likely not injured in this accident.” The trial court assessed the usefulness of presenting a probability theory to the jury, and concluded that such testimony would be confusing and misleading to the jury. (Id. at p. 851-52.)

Similarly, Arizona’s Insurance Commissioner has adopted rules that specifically prohibit insurance carriers from relying on “biomechanic injury causation” analysis when investigating claims. The Arizona Insurance Commissioner has ruled that Dr. Engineer’s brand of biomechanical analysis does not constitute a “reasonable investigation” of a claim:

These same general principles apply to the use of biomechanical or injury causation analysis to evaluate low impact claims. This kind of analysis is an attempt to extrapolate severity of bodily injury resulting from a collision through assessment of the objective consequences of the collision, particularly the physical damage to the vehicles....[I]t is a predictive exercise that ultimately cannot yield more than an opinion as to the likelihood of bodily injury.
 (State of Arizona Department of Insurance, Circular Letter 2000-2 (January 7, 2000) [Ex. 15].)


Plaintiff will move the trial court for an order in limine to exclude Dr. Engineer’s testimony on the grounds that it is nothing more than “junk science.” But even if his opinions are admitted, he will be subject to cross-examination because the scientific basis for the low-impact defense is fundamentally flawed, and because the police investigation of the motor-vehicle accident was so poorly conducted that there is insufficient evidence on which to base a biomechanical expert opinion.

III. 
Because the City Failed to Thoroughly Investigate the Accident and Document 
Evidence, It Will Bear the Burden of Proof on Causation under Galanek

When the accident occurred, Officer Cop called into SFPD dispatch for an accident-investigation team, known in SFPD parlance as a “four-boy.” The team claims that when it arrived, the vehicles had already been moved. Officer Cop contradicts this assertion, saying that the four-boy moved the vehicles. In any event, the vehicles, which were continuously under the control of SFPD, were moved before any measurements were taken. No photographic evidence of the vehicles in situ exists. The police made no photographs of any skid marks and did not make any measurements at all.


Now, after the fact, the City is asserting a low-impact defense and relying on a mechanical engineer to opine on the accident based solely on post-accident photographs of the vehicles depicting damage. John Doe’s refutation of this defense is hampered by the paucity of evidence caused by the defendant’s own shoddy investigation of the accident. It will be unfair to force Doe to bear the burden of proof on the issue of causation when the defendant by its own actions creates a paucity of evidence relating to that issue. Accordingly, an instruction shifting the burden of proof from the plaintiff to the defendant on the issue of causation will be requested and likely given in this case.


In Galanek v. Wismar (1999) 68 Cal.App.4th 1417, a legal malpractice action, the defendant attorney failed to adequately test a vehicle for an alleged defective condition prior to the car’s destruction. The plaintiff was therefore unable to prevail on a products-liability suit against the vehicle’s manufacturer. The lack of evidence concerning the alleged defect also presented her with difficulty in proving that her attorney’s failure was a proximate cause of injury in causing her to lose in her underlying action. The Galanek court began its analysis by reviewing the conditions that support a shift in the burden of proof:

In McGee v. Cessna Aircraft Co. (1983) 139 Cal.App.3d 179, 187, this court noted: “The Law Revision Commission comment to California Evidence Code section 500 states: ‘In determining whether the normal allocation of the burden of proof should be altered, the courts consider a number of factors: the knowledge of the parties concerning the particular fact, the availability of the evidence to the parties, the most desirable result in terms of public policy in the absence of proof of the particular fact, and the probability of the existence or nonexistence of the fact.’” (See also Thomas v. Lusk, 27 Cal.App.4th [1709] at p. 1717.)

“In negligence and products liability cases, the doctrine has evolved that the burden of proof on the issue of causation may be shifted to the defendant where demanded by public policy considerations. [Citation.] ‘[T]he shift in the burden of proof ... may be said to rest on a policy judgment that when there is a substantial probability that a defendant’s negligence was a cause of an accident, and when the defendant’s negligence makes it impossible, as a practical matter, for plaintiff to prove “proximate causation” conclusively, it is more appropriate to hold the defendant liable than to deny an innocent plaintiff recovery, unless the defendant can prove that his negligence was not a cause of the injury.’ [Citations.]” (Thomas v. Lusk, supra, 27 Cal.App.4th at p. 1717, quoting Haft v. Lone Palm Hotel (1970) 3 Cal.3d 756, 774, fn. 19, italics in Haft.)

(Id. at 1425-1426.)


Applying these rules to the facts of the case before it, the court determined that it was appropriate to shift the burden of proof to the defendant attorney. The attorney’s failure to preserve the car for testing made it impossible for plaintiff to prove her case against the vehicle manufacturer, which in turn rendered her unable to conclusively prove proximate causation in the legal malpractice action. Because the attorney’s negligence made it impossible to prove causation, the court determined that as a matter of public policy it was more appropriate to hold the attorney liable, unless he could prove that his negligence did not damage the plaintiff. (Id. at 1426.) Similarly, here, the City’s failure to document and preserve vital evidence leaves Doe with the Herculean task of refuting the City’s low-impact defense in an evidentiary vacuum. Like the attorney in Galanek, the City should be required to prove that its negligence was not a proximate cause of Doe’s harm. Otherwise, the City will be able to avoid a fundamental principle of our legal system that “[n]o one can take advantage of his own wrong.” (Civ. Code § 3517; Galanek, supra, at p. 1428.)

The Galanek court based its ruling on the landmark case on the burden-shifting issue, Haft v. Lone Palm Hotel (1970) 3 Cal.3d 756. There, the California Supreme Court ruled that when, as here, the negligence of a tortfeasor prevents the plaintiff from having direct evidence that the tortfeasor’s negligence was the proximate cause of injury to the plaintiff, then policy considerations required shifting the burden of proof of causation to the defendant. Haft arose in the context of the drowning deaths of a father and son in a hotel swimming pool. The hotel, despite a statutory mandate to do so, had provided no lifeguard services for the pool, among other safety violations.  The Haft court noted that the presence of the lifeguard would have served two complementary functions, one of which directly related to proof of causation:

The troublesome problems concerning the causation issue in the instant case of course arise out of the total lack of direct evidence as to the precise manner in which the drownings occurred. Although the paucity of evidence on causation is normally one of the burdens that must be shouldered by a plaintiff in proving his case, the evidentiary void in the instant action results primarily from defendants’ failure to provide a lifeguard to observe occurrences within the pool area. The main purpose of the lifeguard requirement is undoubtedly to aid those in danger, but an attentive guard does serve the subsidiary function of witnessing those accidents that do occur. The absence of such a lifeguard in the instant case thus not only stripped decedents of a significant degree of protection to which they were entitled, but also deprived the present plaintiffs of a means of definitively establishing the facts leading to the drownings.

(Id. at 771 -772.)


Doe notes that his case is fundamentally dissimilar to the situation presented by Winkelman v. City of Sunnyvale (1976) 59 Cal.App.3d 509. There, a lawsuit arose out of a traffic accident in Sunnyvale which was investigated by the city police department. The defendant in that case cross-complained against the city, alleging that she was unable to defend the underlying lawsuit because the accident-investigation officer negligently failed to identify the driver of a third vehicle whom the defendant alleged actually caused the accident. The Court of Appeal affirmed dismissal of the cross-complaint, holding that “Police officers have the right, but not the duty, to investigate accidents.” (Id. at p. 511.)


But here, the accident being investigated was caused by the negligence of the same police department that was conducting the investigation. Because of the special relationship between a tortfeasor and a victim, SFPD had a duty to investigate the accident thoroughly and to preserve or document evidence. The City should not be allowed to profit from its breach of this duty by asserting a defense which is difficult to disprove because of the breach. Under these circumstances, if the City wishes to assert a low-impact defense, it, rather than Doe, will bear the burden of proof on causation.

DAMAGES

Past Medical Damages


After the collision, Officer Cop and Doe’s foreman, who had been driving in front of Doe, helped Doe from his car to the sidewalk. As he sat on the sidewalk, Doe began to feel a sharp pain in the right side of his neck and back. Doe’s foreman helped him back to his vehicle, and he sat inside with the seat reclined to await the paramedics. The San Francisco Fire Department was dispatched to the scene. Doe complained of “pain to lateral right lower T-spine area.” Paramedics transported Doe to Hospital by ambulance. 


Doe was screened in the emergency room at Hospital in San Francisco. The Medical Screening Examination notes state that Doe was the “restrained driver of a car hit to right rear bumper, car spun and patient thrown to side. Complains of right lateral back pain” with any movement. By the time he was seen in the injury center, he was also feeling pain along and down the side of his right leg. Examination revealed tenderness in his right side paralumbar muscles. Doe was given a prescription for Motrin and Vicodin and discharged home. He was advised to avoid physical activities, take time off work, and to return if his condition worsened.
 


On February 8th he went to Hospital emergency room in South San Francisco for a follow-up examination,
 and again shortly therafter, because of continued pain, headaches, and right leg numbness.


Doe was referred to Dr. Chiropractor as his workers’ compensation primary treating physician. Dr. Chiropractor prepared a “Doctor’s First Report of Occupational Injury or Illness” after his initial examination on March 7, 2002, which states: 

Subjective Complaints: Lower back pain and right leg pain. The patient describes the pain as sharp/stabbing, sore, achy, numbing, and constant. The pain is rated 10/10. He was rear-ended by a police car in a pursuit.

Diagnosis: Sublux/Segmental dysfunction cervicothoracic, Sublux/Segmental dysfunction lumbosacral, Myalgia.


When Mr. Doe’s symptoms failed to improve with conservative treatment, he consulted with Dr. B, an orthopedic surgeon. Dr. B’s report of March 20, 2002, states:

His neck range of motion includes limited extension, very limited flexion and stiff rotation. .. Cervical compression seems to aggravate his posterior neck pain. His lumbar spine is locally tender. His low back is very stiff with limited extension and flexion. He has no evidence of lower extremity neurologic deficit, but he has positive straight leg raising bilaterally.


New x-rays were taken which showed “a loss of cervical lordosis” and “degenerative disc disease at the L5/S1 level.” Dr. B recommended an MRI scan of the brain because “of primary concern to me is his radiating pain from the neck and his persistent headaches.” He advised continued treatment by Dr. Chiropractor, dispensed pain medication, and advised a self-directed walking program. “If this patient is no better within four weeks, he should undergo additional MRI scans of both his neck and low back.”


A subsequent report by Dr. Chiropractor dated April 24, 2002, stated:

The patient complains of headaches, neck, mid back, and low back pain. The patient is, also, complaining of headaches every night when going to sleep.... The patient also reports radiating sharp/stabbing pain in right lumbar spine with right lateral thigh numbness and tingling. The pain occurs daily with any increase in movement. The pain is rated 8-9/10. The general neck and low back pain is 5-6/10 and has improved 30% overall. The ranges of motion of the neck and low back are diminished (20%-30%). 


Dr. Chiropractor’s plan was for chiropractic treatment consisting of manipulation, electrical stimulation, traction, heat and massage, three times a week for six weeks with a re-evaluation at that time. He recommended a brain MRI because of the headaches. Dr. Chiropractor rated Mr. Doe as “totally disabled at this time.”


An MRI of the cervical spine was performed on May 14, 2002. The exam revealed “C5-6 and C6-7 mild annular bulges, without canal stenosis or neural foraminal narrowing at any level.”


An MRI of the lumbar spine was performed on May 17, 2002. The exam revealed “At L5-S1, there is a moderate sized disc protrusion far laterally on the left extending well into the neural foramen.”


Doe was referred to Dr. A, a spinal specialist and orthopedic surgeon, who examined him on August 14, 2002. He reviewed the MRI scan and reported to the workers’ compensation carrier that Doe likely had sustained a herniated disc at L5-S1 as the result of a motor-vehicle accident. Doe had not been able to work in six months, had severe ongoing pain, and could not return to work. Dr. A was considering surgery. Dr. A suggested that Doe have a myelogram, CT scan, and discogram.
 


The tests revealed an annular tear on the right at L4-5 and an annular tear on the left at L5-S1. After the tests, Dr. A recommended two surgeries be performed, one immediately after the other. His report of August 21, 2002, states: 

We would consider a staged fusion of the spine which could consist of anterior discectomy and fusion at L4-5 and L5-S 1 followed by posterior instrumentation and decompression at L4-5 and L5-S 1 through a second operation. The risk of the operations would be imperfect pain relief. Bleeding, infection and paralysis are other risks of surgery. Rarely does surgery give a perfect result. If the pain is severe and disabling surgery is likely to make it better. Alternatives to surgery include some form of therapy, chiropractic, and taking pain medication. He has tried this and the pain is of such significance that he does not believe that he will be able to continue on or be productive in his life in his current state. Accordingly, we would advise surgery.


In October 2002, Doe underwent surgery at Hospital2. The procedures performed were:

· Retroperitoneal exposure for a two-left anterior diskectomy and interbody fusion using femoral ring allograft [performed by Dr. C with Dr. A assisting]

· Anterior retroperitoneal approach to the spine, anterior L4-5, L5-S1 diskectomy, and fusion using femoral allograft and autologous left iliac crest bone harvested through separate left iliac crest incision with repair using iliac allograft. Partial L4, L5 vertebrectomy [performed by Dr. A with Dr. C assisting]


Doe was hospitalized through October 11, 2002 and received inpatient physical therapy and training in activities of daily living. He was fitted with a brace, given discharge medications, and told to return in three weeks to see Dr. A. Doe was also given a prescription for home help for personal and domestic assistance five hours a day, five days a week, for three months.
 


At his follow-up with Dr. A on October 30, 2002, Doe had some soreness in his back and aching in his legs, but the sharp pain down his leg had improved. Dr, A advised Doe to begin pool therapy, twice a week for eight weeks. At that time, Doe applied for a disabled person placard.


On December 11, 2002, Dr. A noted that his incisions were well-healed and “for the most part the patient has improved since his operation.” He was walking regularly, using the back brace, and continuing aquatherapy.
 


By February 5, 2003, his progress had improved and Dr. A concluded:

I also recommend that he not do any bending, lifting or twisting. The spine will take one year to heal and he would not be a candidate for vocational rehabilitation until the spine is healed. If he does so, there is a potential of loosening of the implants and hardware which could necessitate a second surgery.




Doe had follow-up visits with Dr. A on March 12, 2003 (complained of intermittent left leg numbness)
 and March 26, 2003, (complained of slight left leg pain and pain beneath his right foot). Dr. A suspected plantar fasciitis in his right foot and possibly a muscle strain of his left leg. He advised him to continue aquatherapy.
 


Doe underwent lumbosacral x-rays on May 7, 2003 which showed “stable anterior and posterior fusions of the lower lumbar spine” and the hardware to be intact.
 He was re-examined by Dr. A on May 14, 2003,
 and again on July 9, 2003. Mr. Doe had progressed well, but continued with physical therapy.


In a report dated October 29, 2003, Dr. B states that although Doe has had “ongoing improvement in the last one year since his back surgery” that he has ongoing lower back pain and “significant functional deficits.” Dr. B concludes:

At this point the patient is reaching a plateau in his recovery from spinal surgery. He is not normal, however, and has ongoing significant and measurable functional deficits. I have asked for further assessment of his functional capacities from a therapist.


On November 24, 2003, Mr. Doe attended a two-day “functional capacities evaluation” at Work Ability Testing Services. Before his accident, Mr. Doe could routinely lift 110 pounds with a maximum of 200 pounds. The testing revealed Mr. Doe can now lift and/or carry a maximum of only 20 pounds, is completely unable to pull, and is limited to overhead lifting of only 10 pounds. The report from Mr. Work Eval, the functional work evaluator, states: “Fully cooperative, motivated. Much worse on FCA Day-2. Not a complainer (former Marine 6 years). But he’s quite symptomatic yet.”
 


Dr. A again examined Doe on December 4, 2003. Dr. A declared Doe’s condition to be “permanent and stationary” with a “permanent disability of 70% which would limit him to sedentary-type work. He would also have a subjective rating of 30% resulting from constant sA to moderate pain.”
 


On August 25, 2004, Dr. A considered Doe’s disability and stated his opinion as to Doe’s condition: 

I have taken into account all good results of spinal fusion and all results that are suboptimal. There are certainly patients who can perform more activities following spinal fusion than others. Each patient is different and it is very difficult to generalize with regard to results and functional activity. Certainly there are patients who have solid spinal fusions who can resume close to normal activity and there are those who have difficulty. Mr. Doe’s case falls somewhere in the middle of those two types of patients.

He currently has some ongoing pain. Standing for more than an hour is painful, sitting for more than 30 minutes is painful. he can walk 1/2 hour at a time, can do intermittent lifting of 30 lbs., bending produces pain, sleeping is somewhat of a problem for him, and driving a car for more than 30 minutes can be painful. He furthermore has some mid back pain due to disc degeneration above the level of the fusion. He is not using much in the way of pain medication at this time fortunately.

According to the Spine and Torso Guidelines, I would interpret these limitations as 50% disabled which contemplates the individual can do work in a standing or walking position with a minimum of demand for physical effort. The disability results in limitation to light work.

As far as the subjective factors are concerned, he does have constant slight to moderate pain which would give him a 30% disability rating due to subjective factors alone. This patient is currently in school, is motivated to return to work and plans on working as an appraiser which I think is compatible with his degree of physical limitation….

I…caution you that this is not an exact science and that each patient seems to be different. There is a problem with over-generalization with regard to disability. The treatment for spinal disorders is far from perfect. Our current understanding of these problems is somewhat limited, and my feeling is that we are treating a variety of disorders with one type of treatment which is not optimal for each specific abnormality we are treating. Unfortunately, medical science and technology has really not caught up with our skills in surgery and I feel that the above evaluation is fair for both sides.


Since then, Doe has followed up with Dr. A on a regular basis. Dr. A’s most recently evaluated Doe in January 2006. Dr. A outlined the following specific work restrictions for Mr. Doe:

· Sitting: Fluctuate every 30 minutes

· Standing: Fluctuate every 30 minutes

· Walking: Not prolonged

· Bending/Stooping/Squatting: Not repetitive

· Lifting/Carrying: Not more than 20 pounds

· Overhead Reaching: Occasional reaching overhead is acceptable, but it should not be performed repetitively. No lifting of weights overhead.

· Climbing: No climbing of ladders. Climbing of stairs on an occasional basis.

· Driving: Needs fluctuation from sitting after 30 minutes.


Dr. A felt that Mr. Doe should start working on a part-time basis for approximately 20 hours per week. He should be able to increase to full-time work, following the work restrictions above, after three to six months.


The cost of the above-described past medical care is approximately $270,002. A medical billing summary with itemized billing attached has been included with this mediation brief.
 We have itemized this amount in the Exposure Table below.

Future Medical Damages TC "Future Medical Damages" \f C \l "2" 

Dr. A will testify that Mr. Doe’s likely future medical expenses will include the following: 

· spinal specialist 2x/year for five years: $150 per visit

· the option to remove the fusion hardware: cost of procedure approximately $50,000

· pain medication consultations with specialist every 2 months: $150 per visit

· blood tests 2x/year: $150 each; (5) three epidural steroid injections, $1,500 each

· x-rays once per year for five years: $300 per 

· 1-2 MRIs over next five years: $1,200 per

· physical therapy, 12 visits per year over next five years


The present value of John Doe’s medically necessary future care is $90,699, as reflected in the preliminary economic report of plaintiff’s forensic economist Mr. Econ Econ.
 We have itemized this amount in the Exposure Table below.
Past Loss of Income TC "Past Loss of Income" \f C \l "2" 

For the remainder of 2002 (post-accident), Doe would have earned an estimated $55,218. Doe’s vocational consultant Volk Rehabe opines that had Doe not been injured, he would have continued to work as a lather, and would have earned $62,721 in 2003, $64,126 in 2004, and 66,435 in 2005 and 2006. In actuality, Doe has not worked since the accident.


Further, based on information provided by Doe’s union and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, Rehabe estimates Doe’s fringe benefits to be 48.1% of his lost income. 


Mr. Econ has calculated that the value of Doe’s past income loss, inclusive of benefits, totals $376,939.
 We have itemized this amount in the Exposure Table below.

Future Loss of Income TC "Future Loss of Income" \f C \l "2" 

Doe’s medical treatment and vocational rehabilitation is still ongoing and he has not been able to work since February 2002. Because of the nature and extent of his injuries, he will never work as in the construction trades again. Accordingly, he plans to be retrained to work in a less physically demanding environment, either as a retail clerk or as an apartment manager.


Mr. Rehabe estimates that if Doe successfully transitions to a counter clerk, his mitigating income in 2006 will be $9,977, in 2007 and 2008 will be $17,202, in 2009 will be $19,374, and in 2010 and thereafter will be $20,946. Mr. Econ Econ estimates that Doe’s fringe benefits will average 17.5% of his mitigating income. Doe is expected to work until the end of his work-life capacity in 2030. This mitigating income will be offset by $1,560 in job-development expenses.


Rehabe also estimates that if Doe successfully transitions to apartment management, his mitigating income in 2006 will be $6,692, in 2007 and 2008 will be $20,280, in 2009 will be $24,941, and in 2010 and thereafter will be $33,010. Mr. Econ estimates that Doe’s fringe benefits will average 17.5% of his mitigating income. Doe is expected to work until the end of his work-life capacity in 2030. This mitigating income will be offset by $6,060 in training and job-development expenses.


Had Doe been able to continue in construction, he would have continued as a lather, earning $64,126 per annum. Mr. Econ Econ estimates that Doe’s fringe benefits would have averaged 48.1% of this income. Doe would have been expected to work until the end of his work-life capacity in 2030.


In the alternative, Doe may have been promoted to construction supervisor. In that case, he would have earned $66,435 in 2006 and 2007, and $80,392 in 2008 and thereafter. Mr. Econ estimates that Doe’s fringe benefits would have averaged 44.5% of this income. Doe would have been expected to work until the end of his work-life capacity in 2030.


Mr. Econ has computed Doe’s future loss of income based on the permutations presented by these scenarios, and reduced these amounts to present value using a 0.8% discount rate. These calculations range from a low of $1,334, 348 to a high of $2,050,640. 
 We have itemized the average of Mr. Econ’s calculations—$1,692,494—in the Exposure Table below.
Loss of Household Services


CACI specifically addresses and allow loss of household services as an item of economic damage, rather than considering it an element of general damage. Specifically, CACI 3903E provides as follows:

LOSS OF ABILITY TO PROVIDE HOUSEHOLD SERVICES 

(ECONOMIC DAMAGES)


The loss of plaintiff’s ability to provide household services.


To recover damages for the loss of the ability to provide household services, Stan Olsen 
must prove the reasonable value of the services he would have been reasonably certain to 
provide to his household if the injury had not occurred.


Here, Mr. Doe’s ability to perform household services has also been significantly reduced. Based on information supplied by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, and estimating that Doe’s ability to perform household services has been cut in half since the incident, Mr. Econ calculates that the present value of Doe’s past and future loss of household services is $57,725.
 We have itemized this amount in the Exposure Table below.


Plaintiff acknowledges that insurers and defense counsel have had their concerns about the viability of household service claims. Further briefing on the history, admissibility, and use of household service data can be provided on request. Additionally, plaintiff has provided a verdict report of John Doe et al. v. Roe Cab,
 a recent case tried by this office in which household services awarded for one client alone were $352,214.
General Damages

The element of damages that deserves the most attention in this case is not John Doe’s substantial financial loss, but the effect of this injury on his life. As with any case, the precise amount of general damages is always somewhat open to conjecture. But the following factors affect the amount of general damages awarded:

· The sympathetic or non-sympathetic nature of the victim

· The status of the defendants and the degree of culpability and financial responsibility to which each defendant is susceptible

· The seriousness of the event giving rise to the injury

· The nature of the injury itself

· The nature and extent of special damages

On the one hand we have Doe, a sympathetic plaintiff. His special damages exceed $2.4 million. The jury will relate to him and understand the impact the accident has had on him when he testifies about the changes it has wrought in his life.

Doe’s pain was severe and disabling enough that he decided to go through with risky spinal surgery, enduring x-rays, general anesthesia, bone grafting, implantation of hardware, and one year of post-surgery physical therapy. Doe can no longer play basketball, play around with his young children, or enjoy log vigorous bike rides. He tires easily and his quality of life has changed.

Conversely, we have the defendant, whose negligence caused Doe significant and continuing pain, mental suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, physical impairment, inconvenience, grief, anxiety, humiliation, and emotional distress. 

This office tried a case in 2003 where a truck driver’s foot was run over by a forklift. The truck driver suffered a partial amputation of his foot and lost his career as a professional truck driver. The jury awarded $900,000 is special damages and $5,500,000 in general damages (a 6.1 multiplier),
 a decision that was recently affirmed on appeal. Such results are not uncommon in life-altering injury cases. In another case we tried in 2002, a jury in rural Solano County returned a verdict in X v. Y—a loss of an eye—for special damages of $656,000 and general damages of $3,800,000 (a 5.8 multiplier).
 

Our experience also proves that San Francisco juries are not unsympathetic when construction workers suffer low-back injuries, lose their livelihoods, and have their lives altered. In 2003, in another case we tried to verdict, LM v. NOP, the accident had no witnesses, the plaintiff had a history of a bad back, and he only had $2000 in medical bills and no surgeries. A San Francisco jury awarded this 52-year-old injured worker $4,326,420—$1,576,420 in special damages and $2,750,000 in general damages.
 


In this case, for the purposes of mediation, we have used a conservative multipliers of one to three times special damages for calculating total exposure. We estimate that John Doe’s general damages, based on these conservative multipliers, range from $2,487,989 to $7,463,577. Obviously, a jury could easily find the general damages to exceed even the higher amount.

EXPOSURE TABLE TC "EXPOSURE TABLE" \f C \l "1" 
	Past Medical Expenses
	$270,002

	Future Medical Expenses
	$90,699

	Past Loss of Income
	$376,939

	Future Loss of Income
	$1,692,494

	Loss of Household Services
	$57,725

	Special Damages Total
	$2,487,859

	General Damages (Range)
	$2,487,859-$7,463,577

	TOTAL EXPOSURE (RANGE)
	$4,975,718-$9,951,436


SETTLEMENT DEMAND


The above figures represent the net exposure that The City of San Francisco faces applying a conservative multipliers in the range of one to three times special damages. These numbers are not the potential verdict value of the action, which could be much higher. 


Plaintiff has not had the benefit of defense counsel’s analysis prior to mediation. At the mediation, plaintiff will make his presentation, and carefully consider any analysis of the facts and the law presented by defendant. At that time, plaintiff will be in a position to make a reasonable settlement demand.
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